
 

1 

 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission  – April 22, 2024 
 
The Zoning Commission (ZC) meeting convened on the 22nd of April, at 5:00 PM in the Board of Supervisors’ 
meeting room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, Sioux City, IA.  The 
meeting was also made available via teleconference.   
 

Meeting Audio: 
For specific content of this meeting, refer to the recorded video on the Woodbury County Zoning Commission 
“Committee Page” on the Woodbury County website: 

- County Website Link: 
o https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/ 

- YouTube Direct Link: 
o https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=d3dnklmVm0U 

 

 
ZC Members Present: Barb Parker, Jeff Hanson, Tom Bride 
County Staff Present:     Dan Priestley, Dawn Norton 
Public Present: Peggy Yockey, Glenna Tevin, Dennis Boulden, Galen Modlin, 

Cheryl Tevis, Lynne Boulden, Robin Beem, Merriel Miller, Jesse 
Beem, Abe Sandquist, Ann Johnston, Kim Sulsberger, Tyler 
Sulsberger, Deborah Sulsberger, Zachary Greder, Tim Ericksen 

 

Call to Order 
Vice-Chair Tom Bride called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. Chris Zellmer Zant, Corey Meister absent. 
 

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None 
   

Approval Of Minutes:  March 25, 2024 minutes – Motion by Parker. Second by Hanson.  Approved 3-0. 
 

Public Hearing (Action Item) For Proposed Minor Subdivision – Yockey Farm Addition.  Summary: 
Priestley read the report summary of the proposed Yockey Farm Addition subdivision into the record.  Peggy Ann 
Yockey has filed for a two (2) lot minor subdivision on the properties identified as Parcel #874305300001 and Parcel 
#874306400002.  The subdivision is being completed to reconfigure the property lines and to establish two (2) lots.  
This minor subdivision proposal has been properly noticed in the Sioux City Journal legals section on April 9, 2024.  
The neighbors within 1000 FT have been duly notified via a April 5, 2024 letter about the April 22, 2024 Zoning 
Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations 
have been notified and have been requested to comment.  The Woodbury County Engineer found the proposal in 
compliance with Iowa Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate access.  This property is 
located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is not located in the Special Flood Hazard Area 
(SFHA) – Zone X.  The City of Anthon waived their extraterritorial review authority with the approval of Resolution 
No. 2024-5.564.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision 
Ordinance, the proposal meets appropriate criteria for approval.  Parker motioned to close public hearing.  Second 
by Hanson.  Carried 3-0.  Hanson motioned to approve and forward to Board of Supervisors.  Second by Parker.  
Carried 3-0. 
 

Review of Conditional Use Permit Application (Action Item):  Proposed Waste Composting Site 
on Parcel #864505400001 and Parcel #864505400002.  Disclaimer: Portions of the minutes contain 
direct conversational information extracted from the audio transcripts as available on YouTube.  There 
may be instances of issues with grammar, punctuation, and sentence syntax issues.  Summary: 
Priestley read the report summary into record.  Natural Fertilizer Products (Applicant – Abe Sanquist) and Timothy 
A. Ericksen (Property Owner) have filed a conditional use permit application to request to use Parcel 
#864505400001 and #864505400002 as a waste composting site.  The proposed location is on the east side of Old 
Highway 141 about 0.25 miles north of the point where 290th Street intersects with Old Highway 141.  This proposal 
has been noticed in the Sioux City Journals legal section on April 18, 2024.  The neighbors within 500 feet were 
duly notified via an April 17, 2024 letter about the May 6, 2024 Board of Adjustment public hearing.  Appropriate 
stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been requested to comment.  This 



 

 

 

2 

property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  Under Section 3.03.4: Land Use Summary 
Table of Allowed Uses in each Zoning District in the Zoning Ordinance, “Waste composting” is authorized for the 
consideration of a conditional use permit.  
 
Priestley stated additional comments were received after the printing of the agenda and backup materials.  
Priestley requested that the comments be received into record (Received Materials available in the Appendix): 
 

• Comments from Glenna Tevis received April 18, 2024.  Parker motioned to received.  Second by Hanson.  Carried 3-0.   

• Comments from Dianne Blankenship received April 18, 2024.  Parker motioned to receive. Second by Hanson.  Carried 
3-0.   

• Comments from Cheryl Tevis received April 18, 2024.  Parker motion to receive.  Second by Hanson.  Carried 3-0.   

• Comments received from Kim Sulsberger on April 22, 2024 at 6:00 PM.  Parker motioned to receive.  Second by 
Hanson.  Carried 3-0.   

 
Priestley indicated that the Zoning Commission’s function is to review the application for a recommendation to the 
Board of Adjustment.  The item will go before the Board of Adjustment for a public hearing on May 6, 2024 at 6:00 
PM.  The applicant, Abe Sandquist submitted additional material to the Commissioners.  Motion to receive by 
Parker.  Second by Hanson.  Carried 3-0 (Received Materials available in the Appendix). 
 
Mr. Sandquist, an agronomist, and manure broker explained the application.  The project would be a grant funded 
renewable fertilizer composting site.  The grant specifies that the end-product be available to farmers for use as a 
fertilizer, and is contingent on obtaining all federal, state, county, and local permits.  Organic byproducts from 
manufacturing processing that would normally be taken to the landfill would be brought into the site by truck and 
repurposed as fertilizers, soil conditioners, and soil amendments.  Waste composting would be controlled by 
biological decomposition of plant and animal material.  Carbon and nitrogen sources, and waste would be mixed in 
with the waste byproducts to create an environment for microbes to decompose the material to be used as fertilizer.  
Sandquist mentioned Iowa State University’s compost site that processes food waste, manure, and grass clippings.     
 
Parker asked how many homes are located within 500 feet of proposed site.  Sandquist responded that nothing is 
within 500 feet because he has to be that far away as DNR would not permit it.  Parker asked about what type of 
food waste you get and how do you make sure it is pure-plant based?  Sandquist stated food waste from schools, 
hospitals, may be processed later down the road.  Right now it would be food processing.  A commercial 
composting permit is required to process food waste.  For now, material such as bone meal and animal byproducts 
from a food processing plant and those products are high in nitrogen and phosphorus.  Bones are calcium, 
phosphorus, and sulfur.  Protein is nitrogen.  Sandquist said those byproducts are not harmful.  They are a bone 
product that was harvested from livestock, and they took the products they need out of it.  Parker questioned how 
he processes the recipe to make sure there are no odors, how long will it take to mitigate odors?  Sandquist stated 
there would be software for communication and managers on site to monitor to respond.  He will know what they 
have up front for byproducts.  If there is a problem and there is a smell, there would need to be more carbon 
sources. Sandquist discussed managing the process and said he wishes he could take the Commission to a site to 
demonstrate the treatment/management.  Parker asked if there are other facilities close in the area?  Sandquist 
said not in this area and discussed how this is fairly new and stated he could take the Commission to one of the 
sites or actually demonstrate the process by mixing samples of the products.  Parker asked about the end-product 
and if its trucked somewhere?  Sandquist indicated that the main customers are farmers but there are some who 
are interested in using it on their yards.  Sandquist indicated on the federal FPE grant he is required to sell to 
farmers for a certain number of years.  The product will be transferred as truckloads.  The product is marketed 
similarly to cattle manures.  Parker asked about run-off concerns, Sandquist stated it would be similar or less than 
any feedlot.  Manure will not be scattered like on a feedlot.  This material will be in rows.  Sandquist described the 
product conversion process of about 6 to 8 weeks as it starts out looking like a pile of wet corn stalks and when it 
your done it looks like a black fiber product like you buy at Earl May.  Parker asked if you can go year-round.  
Sandquist stated that is why we are putting buildings up to be used for year-round.  Sandquist discussed Iowa 
State University’s wind chart in terms of odor.  The closest homes would maybe have less than 10% of the wind 
blowing in that direction and it’s going to have to go up a hill anyway so being down in that valley will mitigate smell 
as well.  
 
Bride asked if neighboring landowners had been approached with plans?  Sandquist said just a few as he doesn’t 
know many of them.  He said he would definitely have conversations with them.  Bride indicated that a lot of times 
they have valid concerns and if they could be addressed or answered sometimes it helps.  Bride asked if there are 
any other precautions that can be taken or any type of wind breaks to help minimize further?  Sandquist said there 



 

 

 

3 

are trees already established at this time which made this site appealing.  Bride said for ongoing operations I’m 
assuming you know the DNR is going to be available to address issues down the road?  Bride asked if there has 
been anything in your last eight years of operation you’ve had issues with address?  Sandquist stated no and said 
we’ve been called in twice and the DNR has recommended precautionary things like build this berm higher.  He 
said we’ve had a few complaints but not really any violations.  Bride referenced Loess Hills soil and erosion runoff 
control as was referenced in public comments.  Sandquist responded saying they would have to have a storm 
water pollution permit from the DNR during construction and silt fences.  Bride asked about increased truck traffic 
and what it would amount to?  Sandquist said there would somewhere around ten loads a day at 250 days a year 
without Saturdays or Sundays.  The site projected to bring in about 35,000 tons which is about six loads a day but 
would say probably around ten.  Bride asked if that would be normal business hours Monday to Friday.  Sandquist 
said correct and the fall of the year, like any farming operation your going to have more because your’ going to be 
moving stuff out.  So a seasonal increase with an average of probably around 10 loads a day. 
 
Bride offered an opportunity for the public to present comments. 
 
Glenna Tevis, an adjacent property owner, presented and described photos to be received into record.  Motion by 
Hanson.  Second Parker.  Carried 3-0 (Received Materials available in the Appendix).  Tevis offered concerns 
about safety on the scenic-by-way road.  Tevis discussed the narrow shoulder and it being a heavily travelled road.  
An increase in traffic creates a likelihood of problems.  Tevis offered concerns about waste and the mitigation of 
odor and pathogens in manure and food wastes as well as the attraction of coyotes and other wild animals to the 
area.  Tevis stated the Loess Hills are fragile and made reference to the importance of being a good neighbor.   
 
Kim Sulsberger, and adjacent property owner, offered concerns about the project including tearing down the soil 
and adding a lot of surface such as concrete and questioned the distance of her house and the project site being 
closer than 500 FT.  Sulsberger expressed that this is not similar to a feedlot as other by-products are involved and 
offered concerns about the Loess Hills Soil.   
 
Cheryl Tevis, from Boone County, Iowa, objects to the approval of the permit sitting that the location of this project 
is ill conceived.  Made reference to the Loess Hills and the scenic by-way.  It might be possible to hide the 
appearance if it is unsightly to passersby with natural barriers.  Tevis has doubts about the possibility of completing 
the project without damaging the soils of the Loess Hills and exposing odors, and water quality issues, and traffic 
repercussions.  Tevis stated that the highway is a narrow road without paved shoulders and is a dangerous stretch 
of road with the number of truckloads and would impact cyclists, motorcycles, and sightseers.  Tevis questioned 
siting this on the Loess Hill and along the roadway. 
 
Robin Beem, an adjacent property owner, stated her house is about 250 yards from project site property line.  
Beem offered concerns about odor, property value loss, and health.  Beem read information into the record from 
the National Collaborating Center for Environmental Health regarding commercial composting facilities in terms of 
living in close proximity to waste composting sites.  Beem stated from this source, people who live near these sites 
may experience systems thought to be caused by exposure to compost emissions.  Residents may be at risk of 
respiratory health systems from exposure to emissions of bio aerosols when near these facilities.  Chronic 
exposure to elevated levels of these bio aerosols is known to affect respiratory health.  A study of airborne 
endotoxins around these composting sites found an association between endotoxin levels and cyto-induction into 
human cells, so there are health repercussions. 
 
Jesse Beem, and adjacent property owner, asked the Commission how they would feel if this was being built about 
1000 feet from their houses.  Beem feels it would be better suited in industrial areas.   
 
Parker stated issues like run-off, odor, Loess Hills soil protection, should be looked at closer.  She would be in favor 
of the project.  Hanson sees it as a good business approach but not in the correct location.  He indicated that he 
would agree with some of the comments that it is more of a business activity which would be more suitable in an 
industrial area.  Hanson also shared his concerns about missing two commission members and would think it would 
be fair for all sides to have a full commission present to make this vote but would understand it can be challenging 
for you to take time off work to travel to these meetings.  He asked Priestley about a deferral option and mentioned 
that it would be up to the rest of the commission members in attendance to make this vote.  
 
Bride agreed and would like to defer recommendation until the full Commission could give input.  Priestley stated 
that any type of deferral is something you would have to work out with the applicant would be his understanding.  



 

 

 

4 

He said in the past the Commission and Board of Adjustment have asked applicant whether they wish to proceed 
or not based on the number of members present.  Priestley went on to describe the Zoning Commission 
recommendation process and how a recommendation is sent to the Board of Adjustment who will ultimately 
conduct the public hearing and decide on the conditional use permit.  He stated that it would be important to consult 
with the applicant on their timeline.  Priestley described the notification time frame in preparation for the May 6 
Board of Adjustment meeting.  He reiterated that the Commission should ask Mr. Sandquist about his timeline.  
Bride clarified that if he wants to move forward that we are tasked with a motion yay or nay for a recommendation 
to approve or deny this to the Board of Adjustment.  Priestley indicated that your recommendation can be laid out 
as you see fit for some of the needs that have been identified.  He discussed contingencies or conditions that can 
be included with the recommendation including the items listed in the packet that can be brought to the Board of 
Adjustment’s attention to set expectations for the applicant.  Parker referenced going through the list of conditions 
as found on page 66 of the packet. 
 
Parker inquired about the DNR’s timeframe to meet their requirements.  Priestley discussed using the conditions as 
a way to verify the application requirements of other agencies such as the DNR.  He indicated that he would have 
to defer to the applicant as they are looking at the prospect of this location and seeing what the contingencies are 
because they have decisions to make as applicants do about the appropriateness of the site.  So the applicants will 
learn through the application process through the DNR about what those expectations are with submitting the site 
plans and everything.  So as a condition, as we have done in the past, is to expected to have all the paperwork that 
is relevant to this project from the different government agencies across the board.  Priestley stated that the Board 
of Adjustment typically puts a condition on most conditional use permits that it is expected to meet all federal, state, 
and local regulations.  In this case, those conditions may need to be specifically defined.  Priestley mentioned items 
such as Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP), and NPDES permits from the DNR that could be set as 
conditions that are submitted to staff for verification.  He said contingencies or conditions can be put together where 
the applicant can meet objectives before the conditional use permit could become valid.  Priestley stated that the 
Commission needs to look at these areas that are pointed out where there could possibly be, you know situations, 
that require conditions whether you looking at operations, screening, etc. to mitigate anything that could possibly be 
an adverse issue.  Thus, the conditional use is meant to identify potential deficiencies and find ways to mitigate.  
Priestley reiterated that the Board of Adjustment will ultimately make the decision as the Zoning Commission has 
an advisory role in the conditional use permit process.  He noted facts are still coming in and the Board of 
Adjustment public hearing will be held on May 6. 
 
Bride reiterated that this decision tonight isn’t approving or denying the permit that does, like Dan said, fall on the 
Board of Adjustment.  He indicated that the conditions listed here and came up tonight would have to be addressed 
adequately to approve this.  Parker referenced the suggested motion as being general and presented the question 
of being more specific.  Hanson had no comments but said he would have a tough time voting for a 
recommendation with any conditions because he feels that the site is not adequate to serve this use.  Priestley said 
the public hearing is held at the Board of Adjustment level.  The ordinance says within 35 days after the public 
hearing, the Board of Adjustment shall approve, approve with conditions or limitations, or deny the requested 
conditional use.  The Board of Adjustment shall set forth findings of fact addressing the points enumerated in the 
application which are the criteria or the standards and considerations.  Priestley reiterated that discussions 
regarding timeline be directed with the applicant.  Bride discussed the three-member panel and the option to defer if 
the applicant so chooses until the full Commission is present.  That’s the option for a deferment for the full 
commission or proceed with the motion however it falls today or recommendation.  Bride asked Sandquist to 
approach the mic to address the matter.   
 
Sandquist stated so the question is whether I would like you guys to vote today or defer until we have a larger 
committee?  Bride said correct.  We could proceed, um its quorum so it’s a two to one vote would move the motion 
and forward the recommendation but like I said that’s your option to defer till the full body’s here I don’t know if you 
know two more Commissioners two more sets of ears.  Sandquist asked how many days would it be then to the 
next meeting with the full commission?  Priestley stated that it depends on scheduling.  The Board of Adjustment 
meeting is already publicized, and it’s been noticed and everything of that nature.  It would have to be pretty quick if 
you’re to still meet the May 6 meeting.  He indicated that this is not a public hearing so it could be an agenda item 
but it just kind of tightens up the time frame as far as if we were to probably reset, we would probably likely have to 
run into redoing the Board of Adjustment public hearing possibly so that’s kind of the challenge there.  Sandquist 
said it probably would be nice to have a full commission here um so you have more people involved now I know 
just above everybody here including yourselves I mean I can read a little bit I feel everybody understands that there 
is this project is a good project and it is a worthy endeavor for the future.  I think everybody’s kind of at the right 



 

 

 

5 

spot or not.  So, I mean we probably, so if we vote on this then we move forward to the next the next session if we 
don’t then we have to. We probably would be better to have five commissions involved so you have a five people 
involved to make a motion.  
 
Bride stated that I guess I’d just like to clarify that this is just a motion for a recommendation to either deny or 
approve it doesn’t mean that the Board of Adjustment has to abide by what this body says if it’s three or five so 
even what we say today doesn’t prevent them from doing something differently.  Sandquist responded so it just 
prevents the project from going to the commission two versus one.  Bride indicated the deferment would meet the 
full board and would delay till that time frame if you choose to not elect to go that route then our motion today would 
be whatever it is and it’s just a recommendation it’s not for or against/it doesn’t approve or deny the permit its just a 
motion to make a recommendation to the Board of Adjustment.  The Board of Adjustment who’s going to decide.  
Sandquist responded so it still goes forward.  Bride responded that it would still move forward even if our motion to 
approve or is to deny it would still move forward to the Board of Adjustment.  This is just a recommendation.  
Priestley said to be clear all conditional use permit applications will go to the Board of Adjustment regardless of the 
recommendation.  A recommendation is a signal that they’ve looked at this and they have this position on it but the 
Board of Adjustment would receive that and go with that information and look at the application so depending on 
this whole thing if you um reschedule I would suggest that the Commission and the applicant be in some type of 
concurrence on if you want to do that or if you want to move depending on ultimately what you both come to an 
agreement on as far as if you want to have another one or have them vote and send a recommendation.  Sandquist 
responded I guess then we probably just as well vote and have a recommendation move forward. Bride replied 
thank you.   
 
Bride asked if there is a motion? 
 
Parker stated that she would like to make a motion to move forward with the project and there are a number of 
issues that she would like to see addressed including the driveway, traffic and the driveway would need to be built 
to accommodate the traffic.  She also offered concerns about the homes in the area and the odors.  Parker inquired 
about any extra noise that she would like to see addressed.  Also, she would like to know about the type of food 
waste and the amount of odor and waste runoff and how the berms are going to be built.  Sandquist asked if you 
would like to see a site somewhere with some of the products that we’re going to use then you guys can physically 
see them and smell them.  Parker offered concerns about the Loess Hills and also referenced the list including the 
archaeological study, the owner get the appropriate permits from DNR, state, local, federal.  Appropriate measures 
must be in place to mitigate any potential adverse impacts of the waste composition on the adjacent property 
including measures to address odors and any waste material runoff into adjacent properties.  A copy of an access 
easement through the abutting parcel or clarification of the acquisition of that said parcel must be provided to the 
county.  Activities shall not occur not be expanded onto that abutting parcel without authorization by the Board of 
Adjustment (a new conditional use permit application will be submitted to the Zoning Commission for the 
consideration and approval by the Board of Adjustment).  The parcels we are talking about must be combined via 
the county assessor because the site is on two separate parcels.  The conditional use permit shall not be authozied 
until the said conditions have been met by the property owner(s)/applicant(s) including providing Woodbury County 
with appropriate documentation for verification.  That’s my motion. 
 
Bride asked if there is a second on that motion? 
 
Parker asked if the public comments were closed.  Priestley indicated that questions can be asked.  Bride asked 
Ann Johnson about her question.  Ann Johnston would like DNR reports and complaints be submitted to the Zoning 
Commission as far as the content and results.  Johnston offered concerns about the smells that come from animal 
byproducts that have been used as fertilizer on nearby farm fields characterizing it as putrid. 
 
Bride announced that the motion failed to receive second.  Bride asked for another motion.   
 
Hanson made a motion to recommend to the Board of Adjustment not to approve the conditional use permit for the 
waste composting site on the parcels identified on the application.  Parker asked about the procedure with a 
second.  Priestley indicated that it could keep going back and forth.  Second by Parker.  Discussion.  Hanson stated 
that my only comments would be and I made those earlier but in addition to those anytime we talk about adding all 
the conditions when we talk about screening requirements to me that just means it’s not the right site.  If we’re 
looking at screening or odor control then to me we’re just trying to put additional conditions to try to get it to fit in the 



 

 

 

6 

area and in this case my personal opinion is it doesn’t fit and I think any screening that you can require um still 
does not make it the correct site.   
 
Bride stated I guess my feeling on the conditional use permit is that’s what it is its conditions.  This one seems like 
there’s a long list that got longer tonight.  Part of it’s the unknown, I don’t know enough about this project to know 
what conditions need to be in place.  I guess um that’s all I have to say.  Motion carried 3-0. 
 

CoZO Spring Conference 2024 (Information Item): 
The yearly state-wide conference will be held in Woodbury County this year, May 22-24 at the Hilton Garden Inn.  
Commissioners are welcome to attend.  Contact Planning and Zoning for details regarding registration. 
  

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
Lynne Boulden mentioned recent destruction of natural treasures.  Thanked the Commission for supporting 
preservation of Loess Hills. 
 

Staff Update  
Priestley stated that the Board of Supervisors will be holding public hearings on the floodplain management 
ordinance amendments, the proposed comprehensive plan, and utility-scale solar energy systems. 
 
Due to the Memorial Day Holiday falling on the same date that the Zoning Commission would normally meet, it was 
discussed to potentially move the meeting to May 29 or 30.  Priestley will check with the Commissioners. 
 

Commissioner Comment of Inquiry  
None 
 
Adjournment 
Motion to adjourn: Hanson.  Second: Parker.  Carried 3-0.  Meeting ended 6:39 PM. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

7 

APPENDIX – RECEIVED ITEMS 

 



 

 

 

8 



 

 

 

9 



 

 

 

10 



 

 

 

11 



 

 

 

12 



 

 

 

13 

 
 



 

 

 

14 

 
 



 

 

 

15 



 

 

 

16 



 

 

 

17 



 

 

 

18 



 

 

 

19 

 
 



 

 

 

20 



 

 

 

21 



 

 

 

22 

 
 



 

 

 

23 



 

 

 

24 



 

 

 

25 



 

 

 

26 



 

 

 

27 



 

 

 

28 



 

 

 

29 



 

 

 

30 



 

 

 

31 



 

 

 

32 



 

 

 

33 
 



 

 

 

34 



 

 

 

35 

 



 

 

 

36 

 
 



 

 

 

37 

 
Received from Glenna Tevis 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

38 

 
Received from Glenna Tevis 

 


